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Dear Chair

Draft Mental Health (Younq Offenders) Law (Jersey) Amendment Requlations 202-

The Office of the Children’s Commissioner (the Office) welcomes the opportunity to inform of
the Children, Education and Home Affairs Panel’s (the Panel) review of Draft Mental Health
(Young Offenders) Law (Jersey) Amendment Regulations 202- (the draft Regulations).

The Office was briefed on the Regulations, in accordance with Article 25 of the
Commissioner for Children and Young People (Jersey) Law 2019, in early April 2024 by the
Cabinet Office. The briefing identified the gap in existing legislation in relation to the transfer
and detention of children accommodated in secure care and also highlighted the need for
swift resolution of this issue due to the ongoing welfare of children currently residing within
secure accommodation.

The following sets out the view of the Office on the draft Regulations, focusing on areas of
concern. These were discussed with the Cabinet Office as part of the above briefing and
provided in writing following the briefing.

The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC), under Article 24, recognises the
right of all children to the highest attainable standard of health, and access to the health
services necessary to achieve this. These rights apply to all children everywhere and must
do so without discrimination of any kind. This includes children deprived of their liberty in any
setting. The 2019 UN Global Study on Children Deprived of their Liberty (the UN Global
Study), is clear that, “Deprivation of liberty does not mean deprivation of liberties. In other
words: When deprived of their right to personal liberty, human beings shall, in principle, keep
all other human rights and shall be enabled by State authorities, as far as possible, to
exercise these rights in detention. This doctrine of minimal limitations applies in even
stronger terms to children who are still in their formative stage. When State authorities
decide, as a measure of last resort, to detain children, they have the positive obligation to
ensure that these children can in fact enjoy all other rights enshrined in the CRC.”

The UN Global Study also notes that, “...there is already considerable evidence that
deprivation of liberty can be harmful to the health of children, and often compounds trauma.”


https://omnibook.com/global-study-2019/liberty/page-001.html

It goes on to highlight that “Children in justice-related detention have a markedly higher
prevalence of mental disorder than their community peers” and “Justice-related detention
also likely erodes mental health and may compound existing socioeconomic and
psychosocial health risks in vulnerable populations.”

As such our view is that children deprived of their liberty in secure accommodation should be
receiving adequate mental health care and support within the secure accommodation setting
in order to minimise the possibility of requiring in-patient treatment.

We do, of course, recognise that there may be circumstances where in-patient treatment is
necessary, and the law must therefore provide for this, hence the purpose of the draft
amendment to Article 69 of the Mental Health Law. However, the Office is concerned that
the original policy intention was, and remains, that the provisions in this article will apply in
the same way to children and adults. It is our view that this is not appropriate, and our
concerns are set out below.

Duration of periods of detention

The duration of the periods of detention within this article (both the initial period of detention
and then subsequent periods of renewal for detention) are lengthy and appear to apply as
the required period of time of detention i.e. for 6 months’ rather than a maximum period of
detention i.e. ‘for up to 6 months’. The Office recognises that the law must provide for the
maximum time periods that can be applied and that in practice it may not be the case that
these maximum periods of detention are applied in relation to children and young people.
However, the ability for these time periods to be applied to children, without the inclusion of
an ‘up to’ qualification, has the potential to indicate that the detention of children for those
periods of time is appropriate and therefore should be sought. International human rights
standards, for example Article 37 of the UNCRC, are clear that deprivation of liberty of
children should be a measure of last resort and for the shortest time possible.

Reqular review of detention

Regular review of the need for detention to continue and the requirement that detention ends
as soon as it stops being necessary and proportionate are important human rights
safeguards when infringing on a person’s right to liberty. We are concerned by the lack of a
requirement under Article 69 to regularly review the transfer and detention order by a
suitably qualified medical practitioner, during both the initial period of detention and any
subsequent period of detention, and by the lack of requirement to ensure that the detention
ends when it is no longer necessary.

Application for discharge

This is linked to further concerns about the limited scope of those permitted to make an
application to the court to enable a person to be discharged from the approved
establishment. In the case of a child or young person, particularly where the child may not
have capacity, the current provisions do not allow for anyone to act on behalf of the child
such as a parent or a professional around the child, such as an independent advocate,
suitably qualified medical professional or legal professional.

Approved establishments

The Office is concerned that children and young people detained under Article 69 Mental
Health Law are likely to be placed in approved establishments which are adult facilities. The
UN Committee on the Rights of the Child has repeatedly called for children to be detained
separately from adults when deprivation of liberty is required, including in mental health
settings. In its Concluding Observations to the UK State Party, which includes Jersey, in



2016 (see paragraph 60 & 61) the Committee recommended that the UK State Party,
“expedite the prohibition of placing children with mental health needs in adult psychiatric
wards, while ensuring the provision of age-appropriate mental health services and facilities.”

In its 2023 (see paragraph 43(a)) Concluding Observations, the Committee recommended
that the UK State Party, “Urgently reform the Mental Health Act, in line with its previous
commitments and the policy position set out in the 2021 white paper, and ensure that it: (i)
explicitly prohibits the detention or placement in adult psychiatric units or police stations of
children with mental health issues, learning disabilities and autism; (ii) guarantees children’s
right to be heard in decisions regarding their mental health care, to access therapeutic
mental health services and to receive support from independent mental health advocates;
and (iii) establishes standards for determining the duration of inpatient mental health care
and for appropriate follow-up, with a view to preventing unnecessary and prolonged stays in
inpatient mental health care.”

Mechanisms for challenging/appealing detention

It is unclear how a child or young person detained under Article 69 could challenge their
detention.

Given these concerns it was and remains our view that that there should be separate
provisions in the Law relating to the transfer and detention of children and young people in
secure accommodation, which provide robust safeguards and ensure that deprivation of
liberty is a measure of last resort and for the shortest time possible, in line with international
human rights standards.

However, after constructive discussions with Government regarding the time sensitive nature
of the issue and the constraints of the legal mechanisms available, a course of action was
agreed, in essence, as follows:

e The draft Regulations would be an interim measure, to meet the needs of children
who are currently securely accommodated, until more robust provisions are brought
forward in the second tranche of changes to the Mental Health (Jersey) Law 2016
addressing the concerns of the Office. These amendments are due to come back to
the Assembly in early 2025.

e Alongside this, the Code of Practice accompanying the Mental Health (Jersey) Law
2016 and any practice guidance will be updated to incorporate human rights
safeguards for children and young people and also seek to address the broader
concerns we have raised.

Current position

We are disappointed to see that neither the above issues nor the fact that this is an interim
measure are reflected in either the proposition or the accompanying CRIA. As such, itis
our view that the CRIA has not provided a rounded assessment of the potential impact of the
draft regulations on children’s rights. Whilst we recognise the urgency with which these
regulations have been brought forward and the constraints of the enabling legal mechanism,
this does not negate the need for the impact on children’s rights to be properly assessed and
reflected. In future the Office would welcome earlier sight of the CRIA to allow us adequate
time to provide advice and time for that advice to be considered. Further, the absence of a
clear statement that these measures are of an interim nature does not, in our view, provide
the full and accurate context for consideration by the Assembly.

Notwithstanding these concerns, the Office acknowledges that, in these circumstances, the
priority must be to ensure that children who are currently securely accommodated and may


https://docstore.ohchr.org/SelfServices/FilesHandler.ashx?enc=6QkG1d%2FPPRiCAqhKb7yhskHOj6VpDS%2F%2FJqg2Jxb9gncnUyUgbnuttBweOlylfyYPkBbwffitW2JurgBRuMMxZqnGgerUdpjxij3uZ0bjQBOLNTNvQ9fUIEOvA5LtW0GL
https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CRC%2FC%2FGBR%2FCO%2F6-7&Lang=en

require acute in-patient mental health treatment are able to do so without further delay in a
rights compliant manner. As such we are supportive of the draft Regulations as an interim
measure until the rights issues we have raised can be addressed through the next planned
phase of reform to the Mental Health (Jersey) Law 2016 and brought before the Assembly in
early 2025.

If you have any further questions please do not hesitate to contact me.

Yours sincerely
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Dr Carmel Corrigan
Commissioner for Children and Young People



